No. 41795-2-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

vs.

Robert Maddaus,

Appellant.

Thurston County Superior Court Cause No. 09-1-01772-1

The Honorable Judge Christine Pomeroy

Appellant's Opening Brief

Jodi R. Backlund Manek R. Mistry Attorneys for Appellant

BACKLUND & MISTRY

P.O. Box 6490 Olympia, WA 98507 (360) 339-4870

email: backlundmistry@gmail.com

E. Defense counsel provided ineffective assistance by	

		pose proper instructions
		Mr. Maddaus was denied the effective assistance of nsel by his attorney's failure to object to prosecutorial conduct in closing.
XIII.	and to d	e firearm enhancements imposed in Counts I, III, IV violated Mr. Maddaus's state and federal right lue process and to a jury determination of facts used ncrease the penalty beyond the standard range 92
	A.	Standard of Review
	В.	Factual Basis
		The sentencing court was not authorized to impose arm enhancements because Mr. Maddaus was not rged with firearm enhancements
	dete	The sentencing court was not authorized to impose arm enhancements because the jury was instructed to ermine whether or not Mr. Maddaus was armed with a dly weapon, not a firearm
		The court's instructions relieved the prosecution of its den to prove that Mr. Maddaus was "armed" with a arm at the time of each crime
XIV.		e prosecution did not establish that Mr. Maddaus has prior "strike" convictions97
	A.	Standard of Review
	B.	Factual Basis
	C.	The 1995 conviction is not a "most serious offense." 99
	D. offe	Identity of names is insufficient to prove that an ender has two prior "strike" convictions

	have the prosecution prove that he had two prior "strike" offenses
	F. The prosecution failed to produce sufficient evidence (beyond mere identity of names) to connect the alleged prior "strike" convictions to Mr. Maddaus
XV.	The arbitrary classification of prior convictions as "elements" in some circumstances and as "sentencing factors" in other circumstances violates equal protection under the Fourteenth Amendment and Wash. Const. Article I, Section 12
	A. Standard of Review
	B. Equal protection guarantees like treatment for people who are similarly situated with respect to the law's purpose
	C. Equal protection requires that Mr. Maddaus be provided the same procedural protections as the defendant in <i>Roswell</i>
	D. This Court should not follow Division I's decision in Langstead
XVI.	Mr. Maddaus's life sentence violated his Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to a jury determination, beyond a reasonable doubt, that he had two prior qualifying convictions
	A. Any fact which increases the penalty for a crime must be found by a jury beyond a reasonable doubt
	B. <i>Almendarez-Torres</i> does not control Mr. Maddaus's case.113
XVII.	The imposition of a life sentence without possibility of parole violated Mr. Maddaus's state constitutional right to due process.

A.	Standard of Review
tes	Article I, Section 3 requires, at minimum, that minal procedures in Washington satisfy the balancing t used to evaluate government procedures affecting civil erests.
pro uno	Under the minimal due process balancing test used to steet civil interests, imposition of a life sentence is constitutional absent proof to a jury, beyond a reasonable abt, that the offender qualifies as a persistent offender.
CONCLUSION .	

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

FEDERAL CASES

Ake v. Oklahoma, 470 U.S. 68, 105 S.Ct. 1087, 84 L.Ed.2d 53 (1985) . 124
Alford v. United States, 282 U.S. 687, 51 S.Ct. 218, 75 L.Ed. 624 (1931)
Almendarez-Torres v. United States, 523 U.S. 224, 118 S.Ct. 1219, 140 L.Ed.2d 350 (1998)
Apodaca v. Oregon, 406 U.S. 404, 92 S.Ct. 1628, 32 L.Ed.2d 184 (1972)
Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 120 S.Ct. 2348, 147 L.Ed.2d 435 (2000)
Beck v. Alabama, 447 U.S. 625, 100 S.Ct. 2382, 65 L.Ed.2d 392 (1980)66, 67, 69
Blakely v. Washington, 542 U.S. 296, 124 S.Ct. 2531, 159 L.Ed.2d 403 (2004)
City of Cleburne v. Cleburne Living Center, Inc., 473 U.S. 432, 105 S.Ct. 3249, 87 L.Ed.2d 313 (1985)
Davis v. Alaska, 415 U.S. 308, 94 S.Ct. 1105, 39 L.Ed.2d 347 (1974) 35, 38, 39
Delaware v. Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. 673, 106 S.Ct. 1431, 89 L.Ed.2d 674 (1986)
Duncan v. Louisiana, 391 U.S. 145, 88 S.Ct. 1444, 20 L.Ed.2d 491 (1968)
Gideon v. Wainwright, 372 U.S. 335, 83 S.Ct. 792, 9 L.Ed.2d 799 (1963)
Gochicoa v. Johnson 118 F.3d 440 (5 th Cir. 1997)

Graham v. Florida, U.S, 130 S.Ct. 2011, 176 L.Ed.2d 825 (2010)
Hamdi v. Rumsfeld, 542 U.S. 507, 124 S.Ct. 2633, 159 L.Ed.2d 578 (2004)
In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 90 S.Ct. 1068, 25 L.Ed.2d 368 (1970) 79, 81, 125
Johnson v. Zerbst, 304 U.S. 458, 58 S. Ct. 1019, 82 L. Ed. 1461 (1938)109
Lockhart v. Fretwell, 506 U.S. 364, 113 S.Ct. 838, 122 L.Ed.2d 180 (1993)
Mapp v. Ohio, 367 U.S. 643, 6 L. Ed. 2d 1081, 81 S. Ct. 1684 (1961) 20
Mathews v. Eldridge, 424 U.S. 319, 96 S.Ct. 893, 47 L.Ed.2d 18 (1976)
Medina v. California, 505 U.S. 437, 112 S.Ct. 2572, 120 L.Ed.2d 353 (1992)
Monge v. California, 524 U.S. 721, 118 S.Ct. 2246, 141 L.Ed.2d 615 (1998)
On Lee v. United States, 343 U.S. 747, 72 S.Ct. 967, 96 L.Ed. 1270 (1952)
Patterson v. New York, 432 U.S. 197, 97 S.Ct. 2319, 53 L.Ed.2d 281 (1977)
Ring v. Arizona, 536 U.S. 584, 122 S.Ct. 2428, 153 Ed.2d 556 (2002) 116, 117
Roche v. Davis, 291 F.3d 473 (2002)
Santosky v. Kramer, 455 U.S. 745, 102 S.Ct. 1388, 71 L.Ed.2d 599 (1982)
Satterwhite v. Texas, 486 U.S. 249, 108 S.Ct. 1792, 100 L.Ed.2d 284 (1988)
Smith v. Washington, 541 U.S. 909, 124 S.Ct. 1616, 158 L.Ed.2d 256

(2004)
Spencer v. Texas, 385 U.S. 554, 87 S.Ct. 648, 653, 17 L.Ed.2d 606 (1967)
Stanford v. Texas, 379 U.S. 476, 85 S.Ct. 506, 13 L.Ed.2d 431 (1965) 23, 24, 28
Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984)
Tata v. Carver, 917 F.2d 670 (1st Cir. 1990)