No. 41795-2-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION TWO

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

ROBERT MADDAUS,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE
STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR THURSTON COUNTY

The Honorable Christine Pomeroy, Judge
Cause No. 09-1-01772-1

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Carol La Verne
Attorney for Respondent

2000 Lakeridge Drive S.W.
Olympia, Washington 98502
(360) 786-5540

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

With the exception of the surveillance equipment, every piece of evidence sought pursuant to the search warrant was supported by probable cause and described with sufficient particularity to satisfy constitutional restraints. The findings of fact entered by the trial court in denying the motion to suppress, and the findings of fact support the conclusions of law. [CP 2-3]

A defendant bears the burden of proving that a search warrant was unreasonable. Hopkins, 113 Wn. App. at 958. Maddaus has not done so.

2. Although the court failed to conduct a hearing to weigh the necessity of the restraints against possible prejudice, there is nothing in the record to show that any juror noticed the restraint device and thus the error is harmless.

In his factual summary of this issue, Maddaus refers to events which occurred on January 3 and 4, 2011, indicating that

jurors could see the restraints he was wearing. The jury venire present on those dates was discharged when it was discovered two potential jurors had made prejudicial statements to others on the jury panel. [01/05/11 RP 262-266] Anything that might have been seen by a potential juror at that time has no relevance to the trial.

Before that jury venire was stricken, Maddaus raised an objection to a leg brace but not to the shock device. [01/03/11 RP 50] He was concerned that when he walked to the witness stand the brace would be obvious. The court ruled that the jury would not be brought into the courtroom until Maddaus was in place on the witness stand, noting that this procedure had been followed for a long time. [01/03/11 RP 50-51] Defense counsel's response was, "Okay. Thank you, Your Honor." [01/03/11 RP 51]

On the second day of the trial, January 13, defense counsel informed the court that Maddaus thought the jury could see the shock device worn on his leg under his pants. This comment was made at the very beginning of the court day, and the jury was not in the courtroom, nor had it seen Maddaus at all that day. [RP 628] Counsel advised the court that Maddaus was wearing tighter clothing that day than on the previous day. The judge did not notice it, but in order to insure that the jurors did not see the device,

she placed pieces of cardboard which resembled exhibits in such a manner that they masked the defendant's legs from view. [RP 628-29] The prosecutor informed the court that he had information from the corrections staff that Maddaus had looser pants that he could have worn but he chose not to. The implication was that Maddaus was either attempting to create a reversible error or a situation in which the restraints would be removed and he would have the possibility of escaping. [RP 629-30] No further reference was made to the shock device on the record for the remainder of the trial. There is no indication that any juror ever noticed any restraining device.

A defendant has the right to appear at trial without shackles or restraints, except in extraordinary circumstances. He or she may be physically restrained only when necessary to prevent escape, injury, or disorder in the courtroom. State v. Jennings, 111 Wn. App. 54, 61, 44 P.3d 1 (2002). Restraints are disfavored because they may impact the constitutional right to the presumption of innocence, State v. Elmore, 139 Wn.2d 250, 273, 985 P.2d 289 (1999), as well as the right to testify in one's own behalf and the right to confer with counsel during a trial. State v. Damon, 144 Wn.2d 686, 691, 25 P.3d 418 (2001). The trial court must weigh on

the record the reasons for using restraints on the defendant in the courtroom. Elmore, 139 Wn.2d at 305. The court should consider a long list of factors addressing the dangerousness of the defendant, the risk of his escape, his threat to other persons, the nature of courtroom security, and alternative methods of ensuring safety and order in the courtroom. State v. Hutchinson, 135 Wn.2d 863, 887-88, 959 P.2d 1061 (1998) (citing to State v. Hartzog, 96 Wn.2d 383, 400, 635 P.2d 694 (1981)).

A trial court has broad discretion to provide security and ensure decorum in the courtroom. Restraints, even visible ones, may be permitted after the court conducts a hearing and enters findings justifying the restraints. Damon, 144 Wn.2d at 691-92. The trial court here did not do an on-the-record weighing of the necessity of the restraint against the possibility of prejudice to the defendant. It did arrange the courtroom so that the defendant's legs were not visible to the jury and ensured that he would not have to walk where the jury could see him.

In State v. Flieger, 91 Wn. App. 236, 955 P.2d 872 (1998), the court found a legitimate distinction between a shock box which does not restrain physical movement and cannot be seen by jurors from other restraint methods which are visible. In that case it did

not matter because the shock box worn by the defendant had been noticed by the jurors. Id., at 242.

Errors which infringe on a defendant's constitutional rights are presumed prejudicial. Flieger, 91 Wn. App. at 243. Like other constitutional errors, a claim of unconstitutional shackling is subject to a harmless error analysis. Jennings, 111 Wn. App. at 61. The State bears the burden of showing that the shackling did not influence the jury's verdict. Damon, 144 Wn.2d at 692.² "A constitutional error is harmless if the appellate court is convinced beyond a reasonable doubt that any reasonable jury would have reached the same result in the absence of the error." Guloy, 104 Wn.2d at 425.

Here there is nothing in the record to show that any juror suspected that Maddaus was wearing a shock device on his leg beneath his pants. His legs were shielded from the jury in a manner which would not seem contrived in a courtroom and he never moved from his seat when the jury was in the courtroom. The "legitimate distinction" found by the Flieger court is applicable in this case. The court in Hutchinson found that because the jury

² In State v. Hutchinson, 135 Wn.2d 863, 888, 959 P.2d 1061 (1998), the court said that the defendant must show that the shackling influenced the jury's verdict. Because the jury in that case never saw the defendant in shackles, he could not show prejudice.

never saw the defendant in shackles he could not show prejudice and therefore the error was harmless. Hutchinson, 135 Wn.2d at 888. Similarly, the court in Jennings held that the stun gun the defendant was wearing was not visible to the jury and the error was harmless. Jennings, 111 Wn. App. at 61. The court in Damon found that the jury must have observed the restraint chair in which the defendant was seated, and therefore the error was not harmless. Damon, 144 Wn.2d at 693.

Here there is nothing in the record to suggest that anyone on the jury ever even suspected that Maddaus was wearing a shock device, and therefore the court's failure to weigh the necessity against the prejudice is harmless error.

3. The trial court did not restrict Maddaus' cross-examination of Daniel Leville in a manner that violated his Sixth Amendment right of confrontation.

Under the Sixth Amendment right of confrontation, a defendant has the right to cross-examine State witnesses to elicit facts that tend to show bias, prejudice, or interest; however, the trial court has discretion to determine the scope or extent of such cross-examination. State v. Roberts, 25 Wn. App. 830, 834, 611 P.2d 1297 (1980). The court may decline to allow cross-examination where the circumstances only remotely tend to show the prejudice

or bias of the witness, or where the evidence is “merely argumentative or speculative.” Id. The court has the authority to set limits to cross-examination that is repetitive or marginally relevant. State v. Fisher, 165 Wn.2d 727, 752, 202 P.3d 937 (2009).

The more important a witness is to the decision the jury must make, the greater the scrutiny applied to that witness’s credibility. Id. A criminal defendant has great latitude to cross-examine State witnesses to show motive and credibility. Id., at 835. This right is not without limitations, however. State v. Ahlfinger, 50 Wn. App. 466, 474, 749 P.2d 190 (1988). A trial court’s ruling on the scope of cross-examination will not be disturbed absent a manifest abuse of discretion. State v. Dickenson, 48 Wn. App. 457, 466, 740 P.2d 312 (1987). Whether a defendant’s confrontation right has been denied is determined on a case by case basis depending on the surrounding circumstances and the evidence admitted at trial. Ahlfinger, 50 Wn. App. at 474.

In this case, Maddaus wanted to show that Leville had received a favorable plea agreement, or had not been charged with crimes he had committed, in exchange for his testimony against Maddaus. His theory was that the State wanted to convict

Maddaus and Leville would say whatever the prosecution wanted him to say in exchange for his own crimes going uncharged or for getting a favorable plea bargain on the crimes for which he was charged.

In a pretrial motion, argued on December 21, 2010, Maddaus argued to the court that he wanted details of the plea agreement between the State and Leville. He asserted that drugs were found in his car and apartment but no charges had been filed. The State apparently took the position that there was insufficient evidence upon which to charge Leville, but there was no plea agreement to provide to the defense. [12/21/10 RP 60-61] Maddaus complained that it was unfair that he (Maddaus) was charged with crimes, whereas other people were not. Defense counsel was convinced that there was an unwritten plea agreement between the State and several persons, including Leville, and he asked the court to order the State to put that agreement in writing and provide him a copy. [12/21/10 RP 65] The State responded that the defense had been provided with all written plea agreements, and there were no unwritten agreements. All grants of immunity had been provided in writing or, if verbal, were memorialized in police reports which the defense had. [12/21/10

RP 68] Defense counsel insisted that the prosecutor was lying and that if a witness was not charged with crimes which defense counsel thought should have been charged, there must have been a plea agreement. [12/21/10 RP 71] He believed these uncharged crimes should be made part of a formal agreement about which he could cross-examine the witnesses. [12/21/10 RP 72]

The court directed that the defense receive a signed copy of all written plea agreements and grants of immunity even if unsigned copies had been provided. [12/21/10 RP 75] The court further disagreed with defense counsel that uncharged crimes were necessarily part of an unwritten plea agreement, and expressed the opinion that Maddaus could cross-examine those witnesses about their arrests and whether they were charged with crimes as a result. The scope of that cross-examination was to be determined at trial. [12/21/10 RP 76]

At trial, Leville acknowledged that drugs had been found in a vehicle, but he denied that it was his car or that he had been in it. He claimed to be unsure about drugs being found in his apartment because he was in custody at the time the apartment was searched. He said his attorney had read a portion of the report to him and told him "there were 3.6 issues." [RP 1127] The State

objected because Maddaus was getting into specific instances of misconduct prohibited by ER 608. The court found that while Maddaus had gotten into evidence that there was an arrest and the reason for the arrest, under ER 608 the matter was not relevant. [RP 1128-29] The defense position was that it was not fair that Leville had not been charged with drug offenses. The court ruled that specific instances of conduct could not be offered to prove truthfulness or the lack thereof, and any further inquiry about those crimes would be repetitive as well. [RP 1129-30]

When cross-examination resumed, defense counsel asked Leville about the plea bargain he received; as a result, a considerable amount of property that was seized pursuant to a search warrant was returned to him. [RP 1130-32] Leville testified that he believed the items were seized because the police thought they were stolen, but were returned to him because they were not stolen and had no connection to the homicide. He admitted he did not know if his understanding was correct. [RP 1132] He went on to testify that he got his property back after the plea agreement was signed and that he had not yet been sentenced on his charges, and wouldn't be sentenced until after he testified. [RP 1133-34]

Defense counsel asked no further questions about other crimes or plea agreements.

ER 608(b) provides:

Specific instances of conduct of a witness, for the purpose of attacking or supporting the witness' credibility, other than conviction of crime as provided in rule 609, may not be proved by extrinsic evidence. They may, however, in the discretion of the court, if probative of truthfulness or untruthfulness, be inquired into on cross examination of the witness (1) concerning the witness' character for truthfulness or untruthfulness, or (2) concerning the character for truthfulness or untruthfulness of another witness as to which character the witness being cross examined has testified.

For impeachment purposes, under ER 608, evidence of a witness's prior bad acts is admissible only if it is probative of his character for truthfulness. Drug offenses are not probative of truthfulness because they have little to do with a person's credibility. State v. Cochran, 102 Wn. App. 480, 486-87, 8 P.3d 313 (2000). The court was correct to limit the defense inquiry into Leville's drug offenses.

On the other hand, bias may be shown by extrinsic evidence. That evidence is subject to the hearsay rule. When a witness testifies pursuant to a plea agreement, that fact may be explored on cross-examination. KARL B. TEGLAND, WASHINGTON

PRACTICE: COURTROOM HANDBOOK ON EVIDENCE ch. 6 at 318-19 (2010-11). Here, Maddaus did question Leville about the plea agreement; he didn't get the answers he wanted, but he had the opportunity to ask the questions and the court did not limit him in that area. It is not clear from the context of the cross-examination, however, whether Maddaus was seeking to establish that Leville was lying in order to take advantage of a favorable plea agreement or that he had made the agreement in order to get his property back. In any event, he got before the jury the fact of the plea agreement and Leville's understanding of it. The defense had been provided with copies of all plea agreements, and if there was anything in the agreement that was different from Leville's account, Maddaus was free to offer that agreement or question Leville specifically about it.³

In short, the trial court properly limited Maddaus' attempts to get in prior bad acts to show untruthfulness under ER 608, but did not prevent him from asking all the questions he chose to ask to establish bias. Maddaus' claim that it just wasn't fair for Leville to escape charges on drug offenses is completely irrelevant to

³ In his Supplemental Motion and Declaration to Continue, filed December 17, 2010, defense counsel asserted that Leville made an agreement that was signed and filed. [CP 211 n. 2].

showing bias or untruthfulness. He also complains that the court should have let him ask Leville about the State's failure to charge him with crimes, but it is not clear how that is relevant. Leville would have had no control over what the prosecutor chose to charge. Maddaus did inquire into the plea agreement without limitation. He is unhappy that Leville did not say he entered a plea agreement which included a promise by the State to forego charging him with certain crimes, but he offers no evidence in the record that such was the case. Defense counsel's belief is not evidence.

The court's ruling in no way inhibited the defense from arguing its theory of the case: that there was no murder, but rather an accidental killing by Matthew Tremblay. [RP 2017] Counsel argued that the State witnesses were not credible. [RP 2018] He specifically talked about Leville—that he did not come forward with his information but was arrested at a casino [RP 2035], that he got a plea agreement, reduction in sentence, and reduction in charges [RP 2036], that he testified about events he never told the police about [RP 2039], that he made up testimony to help his girlfriend [RP 2040], that he was lying about the gun he said Maddaus possessed [RP 2049], and that he was just plain lying [RP 2063].

The court did not improperly limit Maddaus' cross-examination of Leville as to bias. It did not limit his cross-examination as to bias at all.

4. The record contains nothing to suggest that the State had any responsibility for the letter containing confidential attorney-client information, that the privilege was compromised, or that Maddaus suffered any prejudice because the prosecuting attorney's office received the document. The case should not be remanded for an evidentiary hearing.

Maddaus maintains in his opening brief that the fact that a copy of a letter he wrote to his attorney is "presumed governmental misconduct" and the court should have held a hearing to determine how the copy came to be made and sent to the prosecuting attorney's office. Opening Brief at 42. He is asking this court to remand to the Superior Court for such a hearing.

Maddaus does not provide any authority for either of his assertions that governmental misconduct is presumed or that a trial court is required to hold a hearing on an issue simply because the defendant asks for one. He cites to Harvey v. Obermeit, 163 Wn. App. 311, 261 P.3d 671 (2011), a case which addressed valid service of pleadings in a civil case. Division I of the Court of Appeals found that a court "may" abuse its discretion if it fails to hold an evidentiary hearing when an issue of fact exists, presented

by affidavits, which require the court to make a determination of witness credibility. *Id.*, at 327. He further cites to State v. Diemel, 81 Wn. App. 464, 914 P.2d 779 (1996). In that case, Diemel was accused of third degree rape. His victim was in counseling for several months afterward, and at trial he moved the court to review the therapist's records in camera and order disclosure of any which would help his defense, which was consent. The trial court denied the motion. The Court of Appeals began its discussion with the general rule that whether to "hold an in camera hearing to determine the scope of discovery of privileged records is that the decision is within the discretion of the trial court." *Id.*, at 467. The trial court was affirmed. Neither of these cases stand for the proposition that the court is required to conduct an evidentiary hearing when a dispute arises.

Maddaus' argument presumes intentional misconduct on the part of the government. The record does not support that presumption. The copy of Maddaus' letter was mailed to the prosecutor's office without a return address and received on December 14, 2010. [CP 283] The letter was written in August or September. [12/21/10 RP 54] When the receptionist—whose job duties included opening incoming mail and distributing it

appropriately—realized what it was he notified the prosecutor handling this case. [CP 290] A copy was made for the defense attorney, the original was sealed and kept in a secure place [CP 283, 290], and it was, pursuant to the court's order, given to the Sheriff's department to hold as evidence on December 21. [12/21/10 RP 75] The prosecutor did not read it. [CP 283].

Defense counsel had a long list of questions he wanted answered and he had definite opinions. [12/21/10 RP 50-56] What is not clear is why he was unable to investigate these questions on his own. If he had uncovered any wrong-doing, he could have filed a motion to dismiss based on that evidence and the court would have been justified in ordering an evidentiary hearing. But all he presented to the court were his suspicions; he wanted the court to somehow investigate those suspicions for him. He has presented no authority that a court has an obligation to investigate the defense case for the defendant.

Maddaus cites to State v. Garza, 99 Wn. App. 291, 994 P.2d 868 (2000), to support his contention that it was an abuse of discretion for the court to refuse to hold a hearing. In Garza, the record established that officers in the jail had conducted intensively thorough searches of the cells and the inmates after they

discovered evidence of an attempt to escape. In doing so they seized the inmates' personal property, including material covered by the attorney-client privilege. The trial court found that the material had been withheld for a substantial period of time and at least one officer had read some of the material. Three of the inmates brought motions to dismiss their cases. The motions were denied. Id., at 293-295. The Court of Appeals remanded for further fact-finding. Id., at 302.

Maddaus' situation is different from that in Garza. He brought his motion pursuant to CrR 8.3(b) [CP 308], as did the defendants in Garza. That rule provides:

The court, in the furtherance of justice, after notice and hearing, may dismiss any criminal prosecution due to arbitrary action or governmental misconduct when there has been prejudice to the rights of the accused which materially affect the accused's right to a fair trial. The court shall set forth its reasons in a written order.

The Garza court noted that to support a dismissal the defendant must show two things; (1) arbitrary action or governmental misconduct, and (2) resulting prejudice which affected his right to a fair trial. "Dismissal of charges is an extraordinary remedy available only when there has been prejudice

to the rights of the accused which materially affect his or her rights to a fair trial. . . . Dismissal is not justified when suppression of evidence will eliminate whatever prejudice is caused by the action or misconduct.” Garza, 99 Wn. App. at 295 (internal cites omitted).

Maddaus has not shown any arbitrary action or misconduct on the part of any State agent. He had all kinds of theories, but it seems unlikely that if a jail employee had copied and read his document that employee would have waited two or three months to anonymously mail it to the prosecutor. It is more likely that Maddaus, who had shown himself to be willing to tamper with evidence and create what he hoped would be impediments to his trial (see the following section of this argument), arranged to send the letter himself in an attempt to compromise the prosecution.

Maddaus asserts that if there was State action, prejudice is presumed. He cites to State v. Cory, 62 Wn.2d 371, 382 P.2d 1019 (1963). In Cory, the jail authorities had placed microphones in the conference room where inmates met with their attorneys. The conversations were listened to and recorded. Id., at 372. The court there presumed prejudice because there was no way to know exactly what had been overheard. State v. Baker, 78 Wn.2d 327,

333, 474 P.2d 254 (1970). That is not the case with Maddaus. The trial court knew exactly what confidential information was at issue.

Before a court can find prejudice, there must be a nexus between official misconduct and the rights of a defendant. Baker, 78 Wn.2d at 333. Even if there had been misconduct, which the State denies, there must be some right of the defendant affected by the misconduct. Id., at 332. Maddaus has failed to show any prejudice. He has not pointed to a single instance in the record where his right to a fair trial was impinged upon by the prosecutor receiving that letter. Even had some State actor read the letter, there is no per se rule that “any government intrusion into private attorney-client communications establishes a Sixth Amendment violation of a defendant’s right to counsel. Garza, 99 Wn. App. at 298, citing to Weatherford v. Bursey, 429 U.S. 545, 97 S. Ct. 837, 51 L. Ed. 2d 30 (1977).

In State v. Webbe, 122 Wn. App. 683, 94 P.3d 994 (2004), Webbe’s attorneys had waived the attorney-client privilege without his permission in a competency proceeding. The court and counsel for both sides took scrupulous care to isolate the disclosures and none of the information was used in the actual hearings. The court there found that a “presumption of prejudice arises when the

process loses its character as a confrontation between adversaries.” Id., at 694. Webbe argued that prejudice should be presumed because it would be difficult for him to prove whether the State gained any advantage from seeing the material. The court said:

This argument is unconvincing. Webbe cites no authority for the notion that the difficulty of establishing prejudice is relevant to whether such a showing is required at all. Further, we disagree with Webbe’s premise. If the prosecutors had made use of the notes in any fashion, it would likely be evident from the record.

Id., at 697.

Maddaus has not even claimed that his case was prejudiced. He relies, without justification, on a presumption of prejudice. He has failed to show either government misconduct or prejudice. The court did not abuse its discretion by refusing to hold a hearing where Maddaus had nothing but suspicions and had done no investigation of his own.

5. Maddaus did not object to the admission of the recorded calls at trial and cannot raise it for the first time on appeal. Further, he was the person who purposely circumvented the safeguards in place on the jail phone system to prevent inmates from speaking to third parties who did not hear the announcement that the call was being recorded, and therefore should be precluded from arguing error on appeal.

Telephone calls made by jail inmates are recorded. Both the inmate and the person receiving the call hear a recorded announcement that the call is being recorded. If either party does not agree to being recorded, he or she can simply terminate the call. [RP 1464-66] The phone system was designed to prevent three-way calls by terminating the call when it detected a second number being dialed. However, if someone blew into the receiver while that second number was being dialed, the system would not detect the second call and would not disconnect. [RP 1509-10] Maddaus did exactly that. He called Chelsea Williams, who then dialed Theodore Farmer while Maddaus blew into the phone to mask the sound of the dialing. [RP 1504-05, 1507] Naturally, Farmer did not hear an announcement that the call was being recorded.⁴ Maddaus also spoke to Grimes and Leville, by calling Williams and having her hand the phone to them, and because Maddaus was not supposed to talk to them, they used false names.

⁴ Farmer testified that he knew the calls were being recorded. [RP 1248] Maddaus told him during one of the calls that "these f---- phone calls are recorded all the way, right?" [RP 1476]

[RP 1082-83, 1427] Obviously, the announcement that the call was being recorded was not played.⁵

RCW 9.73.030 provides:

(1) Except as otherwise provided in this chapter, it shall be unlawful for any individual, partnership, corporation, association, or the state of Washington, its agencies, and political subdivisions to intercept, or record any:

(a) Private communication transmitted by telephone, telegraph, radio, or other device between two or more individuals between points within or without the state by any device electronic or otherwise designed to record and/or transmit said communications regardless how such device is powered or actuated, without first obtaining the consent of all the participants in the communication;

(b) Private conversation, by any device electronic or otherwise designed to record or transmit such conversation regardless how the device is powered or actuated without first obtaining the consent of all the persons engaged in the conversation.

The statute then lists some exceptions, not applicable here, and in subsection (3) provides that if a party to a communication hears an announcement that the communication is being recorded, consent will be presumed. Thus the announcement at the beginning of each telephone call made from the jail.

⁵ Leville testified that he knew the conversation was being recorded. [RP 1083] Grimes had been in jail and would have known calls from the jail were recorded, particularly since Maddaus instructed them to use false names. [RP 1200,1203, 1205]

RCW 9.73.050 prohibits the use of information obtained in violation of RCW 9.73.030:

Any information obtained in violation of RCW 9.73.030 or pursuant to any order issued under the provisions of RCW 9.73.040 shall be inadmissible in any civil or criminal case in all courts of general or limited jurisdiction in this state, except with the permission of the person whose rights have been violated in an action brought for damages under the provisions of RCW 9.73.030 through 9.73.080, or in a criminal action in which the defendant is charged with a crime, the commission of which would jeopardize national security.

While it is true that a defendant has standing to assert the rights of other persons under this statute, State v. Williams, 94 Wn.2d 531, 546, 617 P.2d 1012 (1980), there are several reasons Maddaus cannot claim the protection of these statutes.

First, Maddaus did not object at trial to the admission of the recorded telephone conversations. [RP 1468] Generally, arguments not raised at the trial level will not be considered on appeal unless they concern a manifest error affecting a constitutional right. RAP 2.5(a), State v. Sengxay, 80 Wn. App. 11, 15, 906 P.2d 368 (1995). The prohibition against recording a person without his consent is statutory, not constitutional. A defendant waives his ability to appeal the admission of a recording

made without consent if he fails to object at trial. Id., citing to State v. Riley, 121 Wn.2d 22, 31, 846 P.2d 1365 (1993). This court should not consider his argument.

Second, these telephone calls were not private communications. To find a violation of the privacy act, “[t]here must have been (1) a private communication transmitted by a device, which was (2) intercepted by use of (3) a device designed to record and/or transmit, (4) without the consent of all parties to the private communication.” State v. Christensen, 153 Wn.2d 186, 192, 102 P.3d 789 (2004). Because the statute does not define a private communication, the courts have resorted to the dictionary definition, which is “belonging to one’s self . . . secret . . . intended only for the persons involved (a conversation) . . . holding a confidential relationship to something . . . a secret message: a private communication . . . secretly: not open or in public.” State v. Townsend, 147 Wn.2d 666, 673, 57 P.3d 255 (2002) (citing to other cases and Webster’s dictionary).

A communication, then, is private when the parties expect that it is private and when that expectation is reasonable. Christensen, 153 Wn.2d at 193. Factors to consider in determining the reasonableness of the expectation of privacy include the length

and subject of the conversation, the location and the potential presence of third parties, the role of the non-consenting party, and the relationship of that party to the one who consented. Id. The Christensen court repeated a longstanding principle that the mere possibility of technological intrusion is not enough to make a communication non-private. Id.

In this case there was more than the possibility of recording. Maddaus knew the calls were being recorded because he heard the announcement. Williams heard the announcement. Both Farmer and Leville testified that they knew the conversations were being recorded. Grimes had been in jail, can be presumed to know that phone calls from the jail are recorded, and in any event would have known because there would be no other reason for Maddaus to instruct her and Leville to use false names. Nobody in these conversations had any expectation of privacy, let alone a reasonable one. Therefore the conversations were not private and do not fall under the protection of the Privacy Act.

Finally, even if the admission of these recordings was error, if there were ever an instance of invited error, this would be it. The invited error doctrine prohibits a party from setting up an error at trial and then complaining of it on appeal. “This court will deem an

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